Public Document Pack



Education and Children's Services Scrutiny Board (2)

Time and Date

2.00 pm on Thursday, 6th September, 2018

Place

Committee Room 3 - Council House

Public Business

- 1. **Apologies and Substitutions**
- 2. **Declarations of Interests**
- 3. **Minutes** (Pages 3 8)
 - a) To agree the minutes of the meeting held on 19th July, 2018
 - b) Matters Arising
- 4. Early Years and Primary Education Performance 2018 indicative outcomes (Pages 9 22)

Briefing Note of the Deputy Chief Executive (People)

5. Serious Case Review - Baby F (Pages 23 - 48)

Briefing Note of the Deputy Chief Executive (People)

Report of the Local Safeguarding Children's Board

6. Work Programme (Pages 49 - 52)

Briefing Note of the Scrutiny Co-ordinator

7. Any Other Business

Any other items of business which the Chair decides to take as matters of urgency because of the special circumstances involved.

Private Business

Nil

Martin Yardley, Executive Director, Place, Council House Coventry

Wednesday, 29 August 2018

Notes: 1) The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting

is Michelle Rose, Governance Services, Council House, Coventry, telephone 7683 3111, alternatively information about this meeting can be obtained from the following web link: <u>http://moderngov.coventry.gov.uk</u>

2) Council Members who are not able to attend the meeting should notify Michelle Rose as soon as possible and no later than 1.00 p.m. on 6th September, 2018 giving their reasons for absence and the name of the Council Member (if any) who will be attending the meeting as their substitute.

3) Scrutiny Board Members who have an interest in any report to this meeting, but who are not Members of this Scrutiny Board, have been invited to notify the Chair by 12 noon on the day before the meeting that they wish to speak on a particular item. The Member must indicate to the Chair their reason for wishing to speak and the issue(s) they wish to raise.

Membership: Councillors L Bigham, S Hanson (Co-opted Member), K Jones (By Invitation), B Kaur, L Kelly, D Kershaw, J Lepoidevin, A Lucas, P Male, M Mutton (Chair) and C Thomas

Please note: a hearing loop is available in the committee rooms

If you require a British Sign Language interpreter for this meeting OR it you would like this information in another format or language please contact us.

Lara Knight/Michelle Rose Telephone: (024) 7683 3237/3111 e-mail: lara.knight@coventry.gov.uk michelle.rose@coventry.gov.uk

Agenda Item 3

Coventry City Council Minutes of the Meeting of Education and Children's Services Scrutiny Board (2) held at 2.00 pm on Thursday, 19 July 2018

Present:		
Members:	Councillor M Mutton (Chair)	
	Councillor L Bigham Councillor B Kaur Councillor L Kelly	
	Councillor D Kershaw	
	Councillor J Lepoidevin	
	Councillor A Lucas Councillor P Male	
	Councillor C Thomas	
Co-Opted Members:	Mrs S Hanson	
Other Members:	Councillor G Duggins, Cabinet Member for Policy and Leadership	
	Councillor K Maton, Cabinet Member for Education and Skills Councillor P Seaman, Cabinet Member for Children and	
	Young People Councillor T Skipper, Deputy Cabinet Member for Children and Young People	
Employees (by Directorate):		
People:	R Eaves, J Essex, J Gregg, E Hale, J Horgan, K Nelson G Lewis, S Mills	
Place:	D Atkinson, S Bennett, G Holmes	
Others present:	J Mander	
Apologies:	Councillor J Clifford. K Jones	

Public Business

9. **Declarations of Interests**

There were no declarations of interest.

10. Minutes

The Minutes of the meeting held on 21 June, 2018 were agreed and signed as a true record, subject to the inclusion of Councillors Seaman and Skipper in the list of attendees.

Further to Minute 3/18, the Scrutiny Board noted that information requested in relation to educational outcomes for Looked After Children was included in the

Briefing Note relating to "The Virtual School for Looked After Children" (Minute 11 below refers).

11. The Virtual School for Looked After Children

Further to Minute 3/18, the Scrutiny Board considered a Briefing Note which provided information on the work of the Virtual School for Looked After Children (LAC).

The Briefing Note covered:-

- The reporting cycle and parameters
- Explanation of Attainment 8, including changes to GCSE grading, impact on Attainment 8 and an explanation of Progress 8
- Outcomes for Coventry Children including average attainment 8 outcomes and progress 8 score for Coventry Virtual School
- Results for English and Maths
- Action plans in place for young people who are not making adequate progress/achieving
- Examples of schools who are good with LAC
- LAC NEET numbers and what is being done to support NEETs
- Support provided by Prospects Advisers to LAC/Care Leavers
- Areas for further development
- Mental Health
- Training
- Support Services
- Supporting Attachment Projects

The Scrutiny Board questioned officers on aspects of the Briefing Note including:-

- The waiting time for LAC accessing mental health services
- Young carers accessing the same services as LAC
- Extending good practices across the City

The Scrutiny Board commended the officers on the quality of the Briefing Note and thanked them for the informative presentation.

RESOLVED that:-

- 1) The contents of the Briefing Note be noted
- 2) That officers be requested to provide all Members of the Scrutiny Board with a link to an appropriate website providing a glossary of educational terms and acronyms

12. Improvement Board - 4th July, 2018 Update Report

The Scrutiny Board considered a Briefing Note of the Director of Children's Services which detailed progress with the Children's Services Improvement Plan

reported to the Children's Services Improvement Board on 4 July, 2018. The next Improvement Board will be held on 3 October, 2018.

The Scrutiny Board questioned officers on aspects of the Briefing Note, particularly in relation to support that the Scrutiny Board can provide to assist officers in their difficult and demanding roles

The Cabinet Members for Children and Young People and Education and Skills, who were in attendance at the meeting, provided assurances to the Scrutiny Board in relation to political commitment and ownership and responsibility regarding the Improvement Plan.

RESOLVED that the Scrutiny Board:-

- 1) Notes the progress to date
- 2) Continues to receive regular updates from the Children's Services Improvement Board, to include further process relating to the Children's Services Improvement Plan
- 3) Acknowledges the pressures and difficulties faced by the Director of Children's Services and his staff on a daily basis and the need to ensure Children's Services remains high on the political agenda

13. Supported Internship

The Scrutiny Board considered a Briefing Note of the Deputy Chief Executive (People) which outlined the requirement in the Children and Families Act 2014 to develop supported internships for young people with learning difficulties and or a disability (SEND) as part of an employment pathway. The Briefing Note indicated that it is a fact that the vast majority of young people with SEN are capable of achieving sustainable paid employment with the right preparation and support. In Coventry, young people described this an entitlement to an ordinary life which is encapsulated under the SEND strategy of "Raising the Cloud of Limitation".

Since September 2013, any institution that receives a funding allocation directly from the Education Funding Agency (EFA) has been able to deliver supported internships. This includes Further Education colleges, schools and independent specialist providers.

The Briefing Note provided a summary of progress to-date of the employer led supported internship delivered by University Hospital Coventry and Warwickshire (UHCW) in partnership with Hereward College. An evaluation of the outcomes for 2017/18 to date, based on eight interns completing the programme evidences that:-

- Five young people have secured confirmed job offers
- Two young people are being actively supported in securing employment
- One young person has determined that they want to access the Princes' Trust Programme

The Scrutiny Board received an inspirational presentation by Joey Mander who took part in the internship programme at UCWH and who had secured employment at the hospital.

The Scrutiny Board questioned officers and Joey on aspects of the Briefing Note and presentation including:-

- Using Joey as an ambassador for supported internships
- Other examples of supported internships in the City and across the country
- Replicating the success of UCHW

The Scrutiny Board noted that there are currently a limited number of supported internships available within the City. Coventry's post 16 providers are committed to rolling out an extended range of opportunities for young people with an Education, Health and Care Plan to secure employment as part of the FE offer. Currently most programmes begin at the age of 19. Special school FE providers have confirmed their commitment to developing a pathway to employment post 16 curriculum. Whilst the Citywide strategy to secure supported internships is at an early stage of development, the need to secure a strong partnership infrastructure is now a priority. The Council in partnership with schools now have to achieve the critical step of secure the full engagement of a wider range of employers across the City, to secure an appropriate job match for the range of skills and career aspirations of young people with SEND.

RESOLVED that the Scrutiny Board:-

- 1) Record their sincere thanks for the excellent presentation received at the meeting
- 2) Note the information presented and welcome the progress made to date and the direction of travel
- 3) Request that the Cabinet Members for Education and Skills, Jobs and Regeneration and Strategic Finance and Resources investigate the introduction of a similar internship scheme, both for the City Council and also within the wider business community, working with the City's larger employers.

14. **Co-option of Parent Representative to the Board**

The Scrutiny Board considered a Briefing Note regarding the co-option of a parent representative to the Board.

RESOLVED that Kellie Jones be recommended as a non-voting co-optee to the Scrutiny Board

15. Work Programme

The Scrutiny Board received the Work Programme for 2018/19, and noted that it would be updated.

16. Serious Case Review

The Scrutiny Board considered and noted a Briefing Note in relation to a Serious Case Review.

A corresponding private report detailing confidential matters was also submitted for consideration (Minute 18 below refers).

17. Any Other Public Business - Resolution to Exclude Press and Public

RESOLVED that approval be given to exclude the press and public under Section 100(A) 4 of the Local Government Act 1972 for the consideration of the private matter referred to in Minute 18 below relating to "Serious Case Review " on the grounds that that item involves the likely disclosure of exempt information, as defined in Paragraph 1 of Schedule 12 A of that Act as it contains information relating to an individual.

Private Business

18. Serious Case Review

Further to Minute 16 above, the Scrutiny Board were provided with information in relation to a Serious Case Review.

The Scrutiny Board questioned officers on aspects of the recommendations arising from the Review.

RESOLVED that the Scrutiny Board note the progress in implementing the recommendations arising from the Serious Case Review.

19. Any Other Private Business

There were no other items of urgent private business.

(Meeting closed at 4.30 pm)

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4

To: Education and Children's Services Scrutiny Board Date: 6th September 2018

Subject: Early Years and Primary Education Performance – 2018 indicative outcomes

1 Purpose of the Note

- 1.1 To update members on Coventry's 2018 indicative performance on the following:
 - Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS)
 - Phonics and Key Stage 1
 - Key Stage 2
- 1.2 Members will be provided with the 2018 indicative outcomes presentation in preparation for the Scrutiny Board meeting, to give them an opportunity to comment and/or raise questions.
- 1.3 The data was made available to local authorities on 10 July 2018. It is important to note that the data is not yet validated and not published on the Department for Education website. This information provides indicative information and is likely to change before the finalised results are available in February 2019.

2 Recommendations

- 2.1 The Education and Children's Services Scrutiny Board are recommended to:
 - 1) Note the content of the presentation at the meeting on the 6th September
 - 2) Identify any recommendations for the appropriate Cabinet Member

3 Next steps

- 3.1 The Department for Education will publish the validated results in November/December 2018, at which point the Key Stage 2 data is likely to have changed.
- 3.2 A detailed Education Performance report based on validated data and including results for all Key Stages is presented to Scrutiny annually every February.
- 3.3 The Primary Networks will use indicative data to plan appropriate actions for the academic year 2018-19.

Kirston Nelson, Director Education and Skills People Directorate



Briefing note

This page is intentionally left blank

Scrutiny Board 2



Early Years and Primary Education Performance 2018 indicative outcomes Thursday 6th September 2018

Kirston Nelson Director of Education and Skills



DfE Publication timetable

Month	What data we plan to publish
October 2018	Provisional key stage 4 results (headline measures only, state-funded schools only)
December 2018	Key stage 2 results
January 2019	Revised key stage 4 results (including independent schools and full breakdowns)
	16 to 18 results for some measures
March 2019	16 to 18 results for remaining measures



Early Years

Good Level of Development (GLD)

- Increase in Good Level of Development (GLD)
- Closed the gap with national by almost 1ppt

Definition of a 'Good Level of Development'

The number and proportion of children achieving at least the expected level within the three prime areas of learning: communication and language, physical development and personal, social and emotional development and the early learning goals within the literacy and mathematics areas of learning



Phonics

- Increase in year 1 phonics
- Closed the gap with national by almost 1ppt
- Increase in year 2 phonics
- Closed the gap with national by almost 2.1ppts

Phonics

The Year 1 phonics screening check, introduced in 2012, is a statutory assessment for all children in Year 1 (typically aged 6). Pupils are judged to have met the expected phonics standard if they exceed the nationally published performance level.



Key Stage 1 Expected Standard

- Increase in Reading, Writing and Maths (combined)
- Closed the gap with national for:
 - ✓ Free School Meals (FSM)
 - ✓ Special Educational Needs Support (SEN support)
 - ✓ White British Boys (WBB)

Key Stage 1

In 2016 pupils were assessed against the new more challenging curriculum. Results are no longer reported as levels, the interim frameworks for teacher assessment have been used by teachers to assess if a pupil has met the new, higher expected standard. The expectations for pupils at the end of key stage 1 have been raised.



Key Stage 2

The headline **attainment** measures, which appear in the performance tables in December, are:

- the percentage of pupils achieving the **expected standard** in English reading, English writing and mathematics, separately and as a combined score, at the end of key stage 2
- the percentage of pupils who achieve at a **higher standard** in English reading, English writing and mathematics, separately and as a combined score, at the end of key stage 2



Key Stage 2 Expected Standard

- Increase in Reading, Writing and Maths (combined)
- Closed the gap with national for:
 ✓ Free School Meals (FSM)
 ✓ Special Educational Needs Support (SEN support)
- Decrease in Writing
- Widened the gap with national by almost 2ppts



Key Stage 2 Higher Standard

- Increases in Reading, Grammar, Punctuation and Spelling (GPS) and Maths
- Decrease in Writing
- Widened the gap with national by over 8ppts



Key Stage 2 PROGRESS

- Increase in Reading PROGRESS
- Closed the gap with national by 0.3
- Maths PROGRESS remains the same
- Decrease in Writing PROGRESS
- Widened the gap with national by 0.9

The 'expected progress' measure

The system of national curriculum levels is no longer used by the government to report end of key stage assessment. There is no 'target' for the amount of progress an individual pupil is expected to make. Any amount of progress a pupil makes contributes towards the school's progress score.





Coasting and Floor Standard

- No schools are coasting
- Two schools are below the floor standard

Damian Hinds (4th May 2018) – statement Principles for a clear and simple accountability system

"We will only mandate academy conversion, leadership change or rebrokerage of a school on grounds of educational underperformance if Ofsted has judged it Inadequate."

"We will not have both floor and coasting standards as this can be confusing – we will replace this with a single, transparent data standard. We will consult [Autumn term] on how this will operate, and consider whether an Ofsted Requires Improvement judgement should also be part of the trigger for an offer of support."



Thank you

Any Questions?



This page is intentionally left blank

Briefing note

Date 6th September 2018

To Education and Children's Services Scrutiny Board (2)

Subject: Serious Case Review – Baby F

1 Purpose of the Note

1.1 The purpose of this note is to update scrutiny board on the outcome of the serious case review (SCR) published by the Coventry Safeguarding Children' Board on 29th August 2018.

2 Recommendations

- 2.1 The Education and Children's Services Scrutiny Board (2) are recommended to:
 - 1) Note the recommendations and progress made arising from this report, as shown in Appendix 1,2 and 3.
 - 2) Identify any recommendation for the Cabinet Member

3 Information/Background

- 3.1 The primary aim of a SCR is to help agencies learn lessons from these events, and to use this experience to improve practice.
- 3.2 Following the referral to the Independent Chair of Coventry Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) it was agreed this case should be the subject of a Serious Case Review in October 2015.
- 3.3 Each agency may make recommendations to support improvements in practice within their organisation. The on-going implementation and monitoring of these actions is the responsibility of the individual agency. Evidence of progress is regularly provided for the LCSB. This process enables the LSCB to fulfil its responsibility for monitoring progress, and to be assured that these recommendations have been delivered in practice.
- 3.4 Recommendations that are multi-agency are the responsibility of the LSCB, and an Implementation Assurance Report is included.
- 3.5 The Serious Case Review recommendations were agreed in 24th May 2016. Progress on recommendations since then can be found detailed in Appendix 3. The delay in publication between identification of the recommendations and publication is due to the associated criminal proceedings.

Appendices

- 1 Finding and recommendations report
- 2 Full SCR report
- 3 Implementation assurance report

Rebekah Eaves Safeguarding Boards Manager Contact Details: <u>Rebekah.eaves@coventry.gov.uk</u> 07701022746



This page is intentionally left blank

Baby F Serious Case Review Findings and Recommendations Report

Introduction

- The overview report was commissioned by the Safeguarding Children Board as a Serious Case Review (SCR) following the serious harm to baby F in 2015. Baby F was a four week old baby boy who was admitted as an emergency to University Hospital Coventry and Warwickshire (UHCW) NHS trust with a serious and life threatening intracranial bleed. He was resuscitated by senior medical staff. Following a head scan, the consultant leading his care reported this serious and non- accidental head injury to the Police and Children's Social Care.
- 2. Baby F requires continuous care and is being looked after by Specialist Foster Parents.
- 3. Criminal proceeds were initiated where father was sentenced to 18 years for grievous bodily harm with intent. Baby F's mother was convicted of cruelty by neglecting him in a manner likely to cause unnecessary suffering by failing to get prompt treatment for him.
- 4. The family of Baby F were known to children's social care. The mother had been in contact with services sporadically since 2008.
- 5. The safeguarding children board serious case review committee met in October 2015 to consider the circumstances of Baby F's injuries. It was recommended that the case met threshold for a serious case review because of the serious harm to the child and the need to establish the way in which the authority and their board partners worked together to safeguard him.
- 6. The focus of this review is Baby F and the non-accidental injuries sustained by him. However, the scope of this review includes a focus on parenting within this family. In particular, the review considers the parenting of an older half sibling, child v and the risk factors and concerns raised about the family prior to Baby F's birth with an emphasis on understanding how agencies worked together and the context of how those agencies may have affected the work of their practitioners.
- 7. The parents of Baby F were arrested following the incident and were on bail during the period of the serious case review. The immediate family of Baby F therefore did not contribute to the serious case review process.
- 8. Daryl Agnew was commissioned as the Independent author to complete the SCR overview report and is independent of any of the services involved in this case.

- 9. At the initial scoping meeting, a three year timeframe was agreed for the review. The SCR committee also identified a number of issues for consideration by all agencies involved. They included:
- How well did services respond to various incidents that arose during the specified period? Was this appropriate?
- Is there any evidence from the siblings or any other source that the parents posed a risk?
- Did services engage effectively with the family and identify subsequent risks and interventions.
- 10. A panel of Senior Managers from each of the agencies involved was appointed to support the review process.

Summary and Conclusions

- There is little information about Baby F in the report. In the few weeks prior to his nonaccidental injury, there was limited contact with agencies other than midwifery and his subsequent admission to hospital. There were missed opportunities for health visitor contact as a result of mother's failure to undertake the primary visit in his home. However, early midwifery visits report that both mother and baby were well. Baby F was gaining weight well and mother was reported to have 'excellent family support'.
- 2. There is no evidence from the review to indicate that this injury could have been predicted or prevented by agencies working with the family.
- 3. It is clear from the review that this family met the threshold for a CAF and effective information sharing across the agencies, as happens now with the Acting Early model, would have identified this need prior to the birth of Baby F.
- 4. However, the three year scope of this serious case review has focused also on the older siblings, in particular on Child V, and on the way services worked with the family to support them. Reviewing the care of Child V was important for assessing the risks for Baby F. This review has identified similar concerns from recent SCR's examining practice over a similar timeframe. Most notably these include:
- poor quality and inconsistent record keeping within children's social care;
- the lack of appropriate chronology for families involved with children's social care which identifies accurate information, professional concerns and a clear analysis of action to be taken or outcomes;
- an absence of the 'voice of the child', either in practice or in record keeping;
- a tendency for 'professional preciousness' which sometimes results in non-statutory sector being excluded or marginalised from ongoing practice with a client/ family;
- a lack of professional curiosity about new male partners, their past history as a father and the potential impact this may have on an existing family unit; and timely accurate information sharing by children's social care with other agencies.

Recommendations

Recommendation 1- The LSCB should seek assurance that the recommendation for each GP practice to hold multi-agency safeguarding meetings involving midwifery and health visiting teams is implemented so that timely, accurate information regarding vulnerable families is appropriately shared. Where relevant, these meetings should also involve school nursing teams;

Recommendation 2- The LSCB should request that children's social care refresh it's guidance on record keeping to ensure the accuracy and quality of chronologies maintained in case notes.

Recommendation 3- The LSCB should reaffirm the importance of the voice of the child in the work of all services, and in particular, within social care practice.

Recommendation 4- The LSCB should ensure that agencies requesting information from children's social care are clear about why the information is sought, and for what purpose.

Recommendation 5- The LSCB should seek assurance that there is a robust operational system in place to ensure that primary visits not performed in the 14 day timescale (where defined exceptions do not apply) are appropriately reviewed, responded to by the health visitor and appropriate action taken.

Coventry Safeguarding Children Board

Serious Case Review

Baby F

Date of serious incident: September 2015

Date of report: 1st May 2016

Agreed by Coventry Safeguarding Children Board: 24th May 2016

Independent author: Daryl Agnew

SCR Chair: David Peplow



	Contents	Page no.
1.	Summary of the case	3
2.	Terms of Reference	3
3.	The process	4
4.	Background prior to the scoped period	4
5.	Professional involvement with the family	6
6.	Antenatal period and postnatal period	12
7.	Findings & recommendations	16

1. Summary of the case

- 1.1 The subject of this serious case review (SCR) is Baby F, a four week-old baby boy who was admitted as an emergency to University Hospitals Coventry & Warwickshire (UHCW) NHS Trust with a serious and life threatening intracranial bleed in September 2015. He was resuscitated by senior medical and nursing staff. Following a head scan, the consultant leading his care reported this serious non-accidental head injury to the police and children's social care.
- 1.2 Baby F requires continuous care and is being looked after by foster parents.
- 1.3 This case is still subject to police proceedings and the overview report that follows is therefore based on analysis of evidence provided by most but not all of the professional staff involved with the family of Baby F. Once the criminal proceedings are concluded, an addendum to this report will be produced, if appropriate.
- 1.4 The family of Baby F were known to children's social care. The mother had been in contact with services sporadically since 2008.
- 1.5 The focus of this review is Baby F and the non-accidental injuries sustained by him. However, the scope of this review includes a focus on parenting within this family. In particular, the review considers the parenting of an older half sibling, Child V and the risk factors and concerns raised about the family prior to Baby F's birth, with an emphasis on understanding how agencies worked together and how the context of those agencies may have affected the work of their practitioners.

2. Terms of Reference

- 2.1 The terms of reference for the serious case review are as follows:
 - How did services respond to various incidents that arose during the specified period? Was this appropriate?
 - Is there any evidence from the siblings or any other source that the parents posed a risk?
 - Did Services engage effectively with the family and identify subsequent risks and interventions?
- 2.2 The panels was made up of senior safeguarding representatives from the following agencies:
 - West Midlands Police University Hospital Coventry and Warwickshire Coventry and Warwickshire Partnership Trust Coventry and Rugby Clinical Commissioning Group Coventry City Council Children's Services Legal advisor to the Panel
- 2.3 It was agreed that the scope of the review would be a period of three years from 2012 when concerns were raised with children's social care about Baby F's older half



sibling, Child V, until September 2015 when Baby F sustained his head injuries. The SCR panel agreed that the history of Child V was also crucial in order to learn lessons for future practice.

2.4 In addition, the SCR panel requested that the reviewers consider recommendations from recent reviews, namely the importance of the voice of the child within professional practice.

3. The Process

- 3.1 The LSCB's serious case review sub-committee met in October 2015 to consider the circumstances of Baby F's injuries. It was recommended that the case met the threshold for a serious case review because of the serious harm to the child and the need to establish the way in which the authority and their Board partners worked together to safeguard him.
- 3.2 The parents of Baby F were arrested following the incident and were on bail during the period of the serious case review. The immediate family of Baby F therefore did not contribute to the SCR process.
- 3.3 Individual agency reports (IARs) and chronologies were sought from the five agencies involved with the family and the reviewers then conducted conversations with relevant practitioners. The SCR sought to understand practice from the viewpoint of the practitioners who were involved with the family of Baby F rather than using hindsight.
- 3.4 The independent reviewer presented the consolidated evidence, the key themes and lines of enquiry to the SCR panel for discussion and challenge. The subsequent evidence and analysis were shared at a practitioner event prior to completion of the final overview report.

4. Background prior to the scoped period

Baby F	Non-accidental brain injury sustained at less than 4 weeks old (Sept 2015)
Relationship to child subject within the review	Age at start of the review
Mother (R)	31
Father (J)	29
Half sibling 1 (Child G)	11
Half sibling 2 (Child V)	8
Father of half sibling 2 (W)	unknown

Table of family members within the scope of this review

4.1 The mother of Baby F became known to children's social care in 2008 in a key episode which lies outside the agreed timeframe for this review but which is an

important early indicator of her parenting skills and her future relationship with Baby F's older half sibling.

Key Episode 1: Mother's parenting skills

- 4.2 In July 2008, at nine months old, Baby F's older half sibling, Child V, was admitted to hospital for 'failure to thrive' (now known as 'faltering growth') but no medical cause was found. The child was referred by the health visitor (HV) who had been asked by the GP to arrange a visit to the family and to insist on the baby's admission. The GP and health visitor were concerned that Child V was not gaining weight appropriately or reaching the expected developmental milestones.
- 4.3 After receiving a normal diet in hospital, Child V rapidly gained weight. Mother was educated in how to adequately feed her child during her admission. The hospital contacted the Referral and Assessment Service (RAS) in children's social care and a social worker was invited to attend a meeting of professionals. Mother consented to social care being contacted.
- 4.4 Prior to Child V's discharge from hospital, a discharge planning meeting took place to ensure that information was appropriately shared across the relevant agencies. This resulted in a health visitor led Common Assessment Framework (CAF)¹ and agreement that there would be a referral to children's social care if the proposed fortnightly HV appointments were not kept or if there was any weight loss.
- 4.5 Child V was eventually discharged from paediatric follow-up in March 2009 having continued to gain weight and to make good developmental progress.

Analysis

- 4.6 This episode provides evidence of an early concern regarding the mother's parenting skills and her ability to feed and nurture her child. One possible cause is wilful neglect however in this case, the support and advice provided for the mother enabled her to respond effectively to her child's needs. The consultant paediatrician worked with social care and a joint decision was made to provide increased health visitor support and a health visitor led CAF, which proved effective.
- 4.7 Almost seven years later in 2015 when the mother was pregnant with Baby F, this previous medical information regarding concerns about the mother's parenting skills was not known to the midwife who undertook the initial booking assessment nor to the health visitor who undertook a targeted antenatal visit in the 3rd trimester. The child's record had been passed on to the school nursing service as Child V was by then of school age.
- 4.8 For the midwifery service however, this information would become known soon after the initial booking assessment as it would be part of the GP record used by the midwife undertaking the mother's antenatal care.



¹ **CAF:** The CAF (Common Assessment Framework) is a shared assessment and planning framework used by children's services when it is felt that a child has additional needs. It is set up to identify those needs and coordinate relevant services.

- 4.9 It is recommended practice that GP practices hold regular multi-agency meetings at the surgery in order to share relevant information with professionals working with vulnerable patients. However, at the time of this review, the family's GP surgery did not hold regular structured face to face safeguarding meetings involving the midwifery and health visiting teams. The practice nurse has some time to support vulnerable families and link to this team but contact with GPs is opportunistic, with support offered when an issue arises.
- 4.10 Currently, CWPT are implementing an electronic system of notes within health visiting. This will allow for easy access to family records for the health visiting service. If there are any concerns regarding a child or family, the HV will be required to make contact with the relevant school nurse to establish if there have been or are any concerns in respect of any siblings.
- 5. Professional involvement with Baby F's mother and half siblings

The Family GP

- 5.1 Throughout the three year scoped period of this review, Baby F's mother and half siblings were registered with a GP practice. At the time of his injuries in September 2015, Baby F was in the normal process of being registered with the family GP but at less than four weeks old documents, including the birth certificate, were awaited in order to enable full registration. He had access to healthcare at the GP practice if required.
- 5.2 The mother has a previous history of anxiety and depression and had been offered counselling and anti-depressants by her GP. The mother had presented to the GP on several occasions with concerns about the behaviour of Child V and her failure to cope with her child. Over the course of an 18 month period when Child V's parents were in dispute about custody and involved in court proceedings, the mother was diagnosed with anxiety and depression. The cause was noted as the stress with her former partner and Child V's poor behaviour.
- 5.3 In April 2012, the GP referred Child V to Child & Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) but his initial referral was diverted in the assessment phase from a request for assessment to a positive parenting course. Child V's case was seen as a behavioural rather than a mental health issue since the GP's referral letter mentioned Child V's behaviour rather than any concern about a mental health issue. This may account for the initial response from CAMHS.
- 5.4 In 2012, the mother also self-referred to children's social care because she found Child V's behaviour challenging and was concerned her child may be autistic. The social worker's view was that the child's behaviour was normal for the age and stage of development but that the mother's management of misdemeanours was overly confrontational. A CAF was offered to the family but refused.
- 5.5 In late 2012, the GP referred the mother to Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) as she had a two year history of symptoms and a reoccurrence

from five years previously. Assessments of need were undertaken and relevant support offered. The cause of the mother's depression is recorded by her GP as having an autistic child although her anxiety and low moods go back further than Child V's behavioural issues.

Mental health services

- 5.6 The GP continued to make referrals to CAMHS during 2013 as mother had growing concerns about her child's behaviour. In July 2013, a referral by Child V's school to CAMHS was acted on and an assessment took place eight months later, in March 2014. Appointments for autistic spectrum disorder (ASD) diagnosis in the Trust currently take up to a year and so this assessment took place within the expected time frame.
- 5.7 From this assessment, Child V was diagnosed with ASD. The consultant clinical psychologist reported that Child V 'wouldn't talk' at the assessment session although she tried to get the child to speak. According to the clinical psychologist, 'nothing stands out in this case' and 'there was nothing unusual in the accounts people gave of the child's behaviour'. The clinical psychologist was not aware of the mother's background history or her mental health issues at the time that she was assessing Child V.
- 5.8 The mother sought advice and was invited to a 'managing angry behaviour' course but failed to attend on two occasions. Her non-attendance was followed up but she did not engage well with CAMHS regarding her child's behaviour.
- 5.9 Child V's father (mother's former partner) was not involved in the ASD assessment and queried this diagnosis. He reported that Child V's behaviour at his home was normal, responding to sanctions appropriately although he did agree that the child lacked empathy.

The Primary School

- 5.10 Child V had been the subject of a CAF while attending nursery and this was handed on to the primary school in September 2012. At the time of the child's transition into primary school, concerns were raised by the nursery about the child's behaviour and ability to adapt to change. Child V was described as a 'selective mute' by the nursery.
- 5.11 According to the school, Child V 'settled into the class very well' although concerns were raised about the child's behaviour i.e. 'would not share and would hurt other children'. In some situations, Child V 'would stare adults out rather than communicate'. However, as time progressed Child V was able to engage with adults and children and the transition from nursery to school was described as 'good' by the school. The school's CAF Coordinator led on this work with a focus on parenting needs and the mother's difficulties in coping with her child's behaviour.
- 5.12 The school made a referral to the family support worker (FSW) who gradually built a relationship with the mother. Together they discussed her difficult relationship with Child V and the FSW encouraged the mother to see her GP about her anxiety and



depression. The FSW was concerned about the mother's differential treatment of her two children and her apparent lack of attachment to Child V.

Key Episode 2: Primary school referral of Child V to children's social care

- 5.13 On 14 May 2013, the school's FSW made a referral to children's social care because Child V's father reported that he had observed bruises, which he thought were finger marks on his child's arm, during a contact visit with him the previous weekend.
- 5.14 The referral was allocated to a social worker (SW) in the Referral and Assessment Service (RAS). Following discussion with a team manager, she undertook a joint home visit with the FSW to meet with the mother on 15 May 2013. They were concerned about conditions in the flat; a strong smell of urine as Child V reportedly 'wet the bed nightly'. On checking the children's bedroom, it was noted that on one side (for the older half sibling, (Child G) there was a 'lovely made up bed' but on the other side there was just a mattress and a few fleecy blankets on which Child V slept. Mother gave 'lots of excuses' for this, particularly Child V's bed wetting.
- 5.15 It was made clear to the mother that this provision was not acceptable. The FSW had previously allocated money to the family (through the CAF) to provide new bedding for the children. The SW gave the mother two days to get a new bed for Child V. When the SW visited again a new bed had been delivered. As a result of her first visit, the SW reported that an initial assessment was required.
- 5.16 The SW was very new in her first post as a social worker at that time. She subsequently met with Child V but she was not able to recall whether this meeting took place at school or at home and the children's social care file does not make this clear. She reported that Child V would not talk with her. No marks or bruises were seen by the social worker.
- 5.17 Following a strategy meeting attended by representatives from health, Child V's school and the nursery school, the SW became the Lead Professional for the family. The FSW reported that she was told 'quite clearly to stop working with the family' at the strategy meeting. She was not happy about this decision and felt excluded from the ongoing support for this family. It was acknowledged that it may not have been made sufficiently clear to the FSW that as this case was now a child protection issue, the social worker would be the Lead Professional.
- 5.18 The SW conducted the initial assessment and noted the different ways in which the mother treated her two children, Baby F's older half siblings. Mother did not respond well to challenges from the SW, confiding instead in her FSW. She disclosed to the FSW that the father of Child V, her former partner, had been abusive throughout their relationship.
- 5.19 During this assessment process, the father of Child V went back to court to obtain more contact with his child. The SW described him as 'concerned' about his child. In

total, the SW worked with the family for about a year and during that time developed a relationship with Child V who then started to relax with her and speak.

- 5.20 In June 2013, the school made another referral to the FSW. This was due to the lack of engagement between children's social care and the family. The head teacher was concerned about the children during the summer period if other agencies were not sufficiently involved with the family. As a result, the FSW worked closely with the family during the summer to ensure they had enough food. She reported that mother's moods seemed to improve as did her relationship with Child V during this time. The FSW eventually concluded her work with the family.
- 5.21 The outcome of the initial assessment in May 2013 was 'No Further Action' but the file was still open to RAS in August when management oversight recommended a CAF. However, in September 2013 this was changed to child in need (CiN) and transferred to the neighbourhood due to 'ongoing concerns about Child V in the care of the mother'.
- 5.22 In October 2013, there were a number of referrals by the school. All were investigated and appeared to have no substance. A transfer summary was completed in December 2013 but the family case remained open in RAS. Children's social care (CSC) reported for this review that it is difficult from the records 'to determine the perceived level of concern about Child V and whether or how that perception changed or whether it simply drifted in the referral and assessment service'.

The Police

- 5.23 On 16 May 2013, the Child Abuse Investigation Unit (CAIU) within the Public Protection Unit of West Midlands Police received a referral (see above paragraph 5.14) from children's social care (made by the school to CSC) with concerns regarding the conditions of the mother's flat and the sleeping arrangements for Child V. This referral was recorded on a child abuse (CA) non-crime number (i.e. when a third party referral discloses a vulnerable victim but where no police offences are disclosed) and referred on to the duty detective sergeant for review.
- 5.24 A strategy discussion took place later that day between the detective sergeant and the social worker in which it was recognised that although the state of the home was of concern it did not fall within the definition of criminal neglect. (The Children and Young Person's Act 1933 i.e. neglected 'in a manner likely to cause injury to health' as a result of failure to 'provide adequate food, clothing, medical aid or lodging'.) It was agreed that the investigation continue as a single agency CSC led enquiry with a view to an initial assessment being completed. Prior to this decision being taken, appropriate intelligence checks on the mother and her address were undertaken by the police. It was established that there were no historical concerns and this information was shared with the social worker and papers filed pending any further contact from CSC. This was effective practice that met the expected standards.

Analysis



- 5.25 The referral to CSC in mid- May 2013 was appropriate and dealt with promptly but CSC report that it is not possible to follow the child's journey thereafter 'due to inadequate reporting'. The CSC agency report for the review acknowledges that record keeping within the service during this period was 'very poor'.
- 5.26 Private family proceedings in relation to contact issues were initiated and CSC directed to provide a section 7 (CA 1989) report. The school was asked to report any injuries promptly to CSC. The Integrated Children's System (ICS) file indicates a number of references to injuries and bruising reported by the mother and by the school during this period but poor recording means that it is difficult to understand the seriousness of the injuries or the dynamics between parents. There is only one record of Child V being seen in school by a duty worker in this period. According to CSC, 'neither the voice of Child V, nor that of Child G, are evident' from the records.
- 5.27 Child V was open to CSC on a child in need (CiN) plan from May 2013 April 2014 and two home visits are recorded (24 hours apart following the first incident above). Child V was seen twice and that was in school (in May and October 2013 for separate incidents and by different workers). No CiN meetings are recorded.
- 5.28 Following a referral by Child V's school on 23 May 2013 concerning an unexplained injury to the child's hand, Child V's social worker contacted the CAIU. Child V had explained to a member of staff the injury was the result of a bee sting. The SW and police officer from the CAIU discussed and agreed that the SW would visit the school to assess Child V's injury and, if appropriate, arrange for a child protection medical. This took place the following day but no outcome is recorded. There are also numerous recorded telephone messages from the school and parents but no records of calls being returned.
- 5.29 Record keeping within the West Midlands Police Child Abuse Investigation Unit (CAIU) provides further important information. On 28 May 2013, the social worker provided an update for the police. She reported that she had visited Child V in school on the day that the referral was made to CAIU. Child V told the social worker the hand injury was a 'bee sting'. The child protection medical was inconclusive with the paediatrician concluding that the injury could have been caused in a number of ways, including a bite.
- 5.30 The inter-agency working between CSC and the CAIU regarding these two referrals from Child V's school met expected standards. However, the first referral to the CAIU (paragraph 5.23) focused on the state of Child V's home and sleeping conditions and did not include the father's concern about potential bruising on the child's arm. In the case of the second referral (paragraph 5.28) where Child V had another concerning injury, and had the unexplained bruising (paragraph 5.23) been communicated to police, it would have been good practice in these circumstances for a joint police/social care visit to the child and to the child's mother.
- 5.31 On 21June 2013, the police contacted CSC for an update on the outcome of the strategy meeting where the decision was made to progress to a section 17 child in need core assessment. CSC reported that the mother had been working with CSC

and they were pleased with the progress she had made. Given this progress, CSC felt the case did not warrant a section 47 enquiry with a view to an Initial Child Protection Conference. The case was accordingly filed by the CAIU unless and until any other concerns were raised.

- 5.32 CSC 'management oversight' in November 2013 records that Child V had bruising to her cheek and eye and that she said (to whom is not recorded) she did it whilst playing. There is no record that Child V was seen by a social worker or that either parent was spoken to. CiN meetings were held and further injuries investigated but they have not been recorded. According to the CSC agency report, the chronology was not sufficiently detailed.
- 5.33 The school also expressed concerns that minutes of meetings between agencies were not shared with them and therefore staff were not aware of any actions or outcomes for this family. Indeed, it was not until 28 April 2014 when the school contacted CSC again about the family that they were informed that the case had been closed. (The family file was closed following a paper review by a manager in April 2014.)The school's view was that there was still work to do with this family and yet there had been no information or handover for them. Inter-agency working between CSC and the school appears to have been weak during this period.
- 5.34 It should be noted that this review covers a period when the RAS team was struggling to transfer cases to the neighbourhoods and caseloads were considered unreasonably high i.e between 30 and 50 cases. Staff were working on a three week cycle and SWs were getting up to 15 new cases each cycle making it very difficult to manage long term cases. Since that time, additional funding has enabled the recruitment of more social workers and the average case load is now about 20.
- 5.35 In addition, an external review of the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) in late 2015 has led to further changes in practice with this team vetting initial calls and undertaking all the necessary background checks for any referrals.
- 5.36 The CSC agency report acknowledges that a child's record should clearly identify professional concerns, the response of parents to those concerns, the child's wishes and feelings and a clear analysis of the outcomes or actions necessary to ameliorate risk or to ensure that the child's needs are being met. This approach clearly did not operate during the period under review. However, the attached social worker was able subsequently to describe her ongoing involvement with Child V during this period but she acknowledged that the lack of detailed recording means that their relationship is not fully captured in the child's record.
- 5.37 Child V's social worker described being 'overwhelmed with things at that time not progressing things so well' as a result of her workload. It was acknowledged by a RAS manager that cases at that time were held for a very long time and as a result the status of a case was not always clear to the family or other professionals working with them, as in the case of the FSW. Interviews with RAS staff however indicate that practice is different today. The social worker described how this case would be treated today i.e. a single Child & Family assessment would be undertaken within 45



days and a CiN meeting arranged if necessary. The case would then either continue as a CiN case, be stepped down to early help or go to a section 47 enquiry.

6. Antenatal period and postnatal period

Key Episode 3: antenatal care

- 6.1 Baby F's mother, R, booked for antenatal care around 12 weeks into her third pregnancy in late January 2015. She attended the booking appointment with J who she said was her new partner and father of her unborn baby (not the father of her two older children). She described him as her next of kin.
- 6.2 Her booking assessment was carried out by a midwife covering for another colleague who was on annual leave at that time. This booking appointment is a detailed process and includes questions about the mother's past history and the completion of a mental health questionnaire. This questionnaire was important because mother reported problems with low mood and anxiety and that she had been on antidepressant medication in the past. The mother responded positively to the question on whether she felt she might want support for her mental health issues. She also reported that her mood was currently 'well controlled' and was aware of the need to contact her GP if she needed further support.
- 6.3 It is normal practice for the mental health questionnaire to be faxed to the perinatal mental health team for referral for further assessment. It has not been possible to ascertain from the mother's patient record if this form was received, whether it met the threshold for intervention nor any response to it.
- 6.4 The midwife described the mother as 'quite honest and open about her involvement with social care'. She referred to her social worker and the occasion when the school reported bruising on Child V's arms. She said that her daughter had behavioural problems and disclosed her ASD diagnosis.
- 6.5 As a result, the midwife completed a social care referral form in order to request further information from children's social care about their involvement with the family and to inform CSC that mother was pregnant. This was not a referral with new concerns about a child but is the standard and currently accepted way of information sharing between health professionals and social care when requesting information.
- 6.6 A social worker in the multi-agency safeguarding hub (MASH) received the faxed referral from the midwife regarding the mother's disclosure of previous social care involvement. She rightly considered this a request for information (and not a referral) and rang to speak with the midwife. She reported that the last involvement with the family was May 2013 and that the case was closed. They discussed the new father and the SW looked on the system to see if there were any reported concerns about him. She shared what she believed to be 'relevant, proportionate information' with the midwife i.e. the reasons why CSC had been involved with the family, in accordance with guidance on information sharing used within CSC at that time.

- 6.7 The midwife did not receive an adequate response from CSC and as a result the midwifery service at that point were unaware of the CAF and previous involvement with the family regarding mother's parenting and her relationship with Child V.
- 6.8 The midwife reported that she did not ask mother the required question about domestic violence as her partner was present at the appointment. She said she knew there were plenty of other opportunities to do so in subsequent antenatal appointments. However she did ask appropriate questions of J and whether he had any children. He replied that he had a ten year old daughter but would not give her name or that of his former partner. J was described as 'attentive' during the appointment but the midwife was rightly concerned about his reluctance to disclose information about his daughter. Appropriately, she passed this information on to the midwife who would be supporting mother during her antenatal care.
- 6.9 There is no evidence on record that mother disclosed domestic abuse at any stage of her pregnancy, nor is there any suggestion that domestic abuse was a feature of this case. However, it is not clear from the review of records undertaken for this review whether or not mother was specifically asked about domestic abuse, as required.
- 6.10 As a result of this booking appointment, the midwife referred mother for consultant care because of her overall poor health.
- 6.11 Following a subsequent antenatal appointment in late February 2015, the attending midwife referred details of J (Baby F's father) to RAS. However, since the case was deemed closed, the midwife was not able to speak with the social worker who previously worked with the family. The midwife gave the father's name and date of birth and this information was entered onto system. The midwife also provided her contact details in case there were any questions about the family.
- 6.12 At the health visiting antenatal contact when Baby F was 7 months' gestation, it was documented in the health visiting antenatal records that mother told the HV she was not living with her baby's father (J) but they had planned for him to move in following the birth of the baby. No further information is documented in CWPT records regarding J or his role within the family. The HV antenatal records make no reference to Child V's ASD diagnosis or its possible challenges for the family. This may have been because the mother did not disclose this information.

Postnatal period

6.13 Following the birth of Baby F, mother and baby were discharged home two days' later. In the postnatal period, mother and baby were seen for the primary postnatal visit by a midwife and both were reported to be well. Mother was reported to be well supported by her partner. Sleep safe advice was discussed with the parents and the sleeping environment checked. This indicates that recommendations from a previous SCR to check sleeping arrangements in addition to giving verbal and written advice have been embedded and followed by midwives. Further postnatal visits were undertaken including a home visit in response to a failure to attend the postnatal clinic. Baby F was gaining weight well and mother was reported to have 'excellent'



family support. It is not clear from records what this support involved nor whether the baby's father (J) was living at the family home. Postnatal checks were completed.

- 6.14 On day 5 after birth, the health visiting service received notification of the birth. The HV admin team organises the allocation of the primary visit which should take place within 10-14 days (a national requirement). The allocated HV rang to arrange this home visit.
- 6.15 Mother agreed the home visit for seven days later. The HV went as planned but no one was at home. HVs usually give a narrow timescale for a visit e.g. between 10.00-11.00am. The HV was going on annual leave so the next visit was re-allocated to another HV. She called the mother and left a voicemail to visit at 10.00am on 8 September. This was already in breach of the national timeframe for the primary visit as Baby F would be 25 days old by that date. Once again, no one was at home and the HV left a calling card. It should be noted that the majority of primary HV visits in Coventry are all within the national timescale of 10-14 days. There is no alert if this timescale is breached.
- 6.16 The HV wrote that she planned to discuss this second missed appointment with a HV colleague but there is no documentation to confirm this discussion took place. The CWPT has a 'Did not attend policy' (DNA) to support and guide staff when access is an issue. A minimal requirement is to inform the GP and the referrer, in this case, the midwife. The records do not evidence that this occurred.
- 6.17 Twelve days later and well outside the required time period, the HV attempted to visit the family at home but was met by a police officer and informed of the incident and that Baby F was in hospital. Baby F was not seen by anyone from the health visiting service prior to his injury.
- 6.18 It should be noted that after the birth, Baby F's mother visited the GP about her depression on 4 September 2015. Baby F was not assessed during this GP consultation.

Analysis

- 6.19 CSC's response to the midwife's request for information was limited and inaccurate since the case was not closed in 2013. This has been acknowledged by CSC. One reason for this could be that only the initial assessment form on Child V's case file was looked at by the social worker. This form had concluded that no marks were seen on Child V, the relationship between the mother and child had improved and that Child V had been referred to CAMHS for her challenging behaviour. 'No Further Action' was noted but as indicated above, the file remained open to the referral and assessment service.
- 6.20 However, if the case notes had also been looked at, the social worker would have seen CSC involvement regarding further injuries. Furthermore, if there had been a full chronology on record, it would have been possible to see whether there was a pattern to the reported incidents and whether that had any implications for a new baby.

- 6.21 Health and educational professionals interviewed for this review have expressed their frustration at the lack of access to the case social worker if a case has been closed and therefore feel that they are not able to get sufficient relevant information on their clients; for example, when children/families are going on or coming off a CAF.
- 6.22 At the time of this incident, all contacts and referrals to CSC would be treated the same. Now the multi-agency safeguarding hub (MASH) has introduced a differentiated system to enable a more effective and efficient response.
- 6.23 Over the past year, the Acting Early model has been rolled out across the city and enables professionals/agencies working with 0-5 year olds to learn about the work of other colleagues/teams and to share information and concerns. If this model had been in place at that time, the midwife would have been able to use it to find out more about previous family history where a social care case is deemed closed, as in this instance.
- 6.24 During the antenatal health visitor contact, there was a lack of professional curiosity regarding the new father J and his role within the family. It is recognised that more information should have been sought during the antenatal contact about the potential impact on the siblings of a new baby and a new male moving into the family home at the same time, particularly in relation to Child V.
- 6.25 It is evident from records that mother gave conflicting information to different health professionals regarding the living arrangements for the new father, J and also regarding the state of her mental health during the pregnancy i.e in some cases reporting that she was in good health with no issues of depression while being prescribed anti-depressants by her GP. There is no evidence that communications took place between the GP, midwifery services or mental health services with the health visiting service and so these issues were not explored any further with the mother.
- 6.26 The primary antenatal health visit did not take place within the required national timescale of 10-14 days but there is no recorded evidence that the health visiting service made contact with the mother's GP practice to inform them about this lack of access to the mother and baby.

Key Episode 4: Baby F's admission to hospital

- 6.27 On 10 September 2015, Baby F was admitted as an emergency to UHCW with a serious and life threatening intracranial bleed. His father (J) attended with him; his mother was not present. He was resuscitated by senior medical and nursing staff and a detailed history of events leading up to his collapse was taken.
- 6.28 Following a head scan, the consultant leading his care discussed the findings with the father, his concerns about non-accidental injury and the need therefore to involve the police and social care. Details of this discussion and the father's response have been documented in the medical records.



- 6.29 Baby F needed intensive care provided in a tertiary paediatric centre. For this reason, he was transferred to Birmingham's Children's Hospital. UHCW provided a detailed verbal and written handover to the hospital's clinical team including a 'clear and unambiguous referral letter' from the on-call Paediatric specialist trainee who recorded that Baby F was felt to be the victim of non-accidental injury and as such would require further investigations including an ophthalmology examination and skeletal survey. In addition, the doctors at UHCW made immediate referrals to social care recognising the importance of safeguarding the welfare of other children in the family.
- 6.30 The management of this episode fully met the expected standards and rightly has been described as exemplary.

Children's social care involvement since Baby F's admission to hospital

- 6.31 A social worker was attached to this case from Baby F's admission to hospital and up to the first court date, a period of approximately four weeks.
- 6.32 Following a strategy meeting, it was decided that CSC undertake the supervision of the children and that Baby F's two half siblings would remain in the care of the maternal grandparents. A police officer and social worker visited the two children and Child V was described as a 'lovely child' who talked and did not appear to have any communication difficulties. The social worker supervised contact meetings between the mother and her two children. She also reported that J, the father of Baby F, seemed to be well known to the two half siblings who appeared comfortable with him.
- 6.33 There was a clear procedural response from CSC during this period with the allocated social worker working closely with police and medical staff. The social worker's involvement ended at court with the granting of the Interim Care Order; the two half siblings remain with their maternal grandparents and Baby F remains in foster care.

7. Findings and recommendations

- 7.1 There is little information in this report about Baby F. In the few weeks prior to his non-accidental injury, there was limited contact with agencies other than midwifery and his subsequent emergency admission to hospital. There were missed opportunities for health visitor contact as a result of mother's failure to make herself and Baby F available for arranged HV calls and a failure to undertake the primary visit in his home. However, early midwifery visits report that both mother and baby were well. Baby F was gaining weight well and mother was reported to have 'excellent family support'.
- 7.2 It is not yet clear who was responsible for the serious non-accidental injury of Child F or how it occurred. There is no evidence from this review to indicate that this injury could have been predicted or prevented by agencies working with the family.

- 7.3 It is clear though from the review that this family met the threshold for a CAF and effective information sharing across the agencies, as happens now with the Acting Early model, would have identified this need prior to the birth of Baby F.
- 7.4 However, the three year scope of this serious case review has focused also on the older siblings, in particular on Child V, and on the way in which services worked with the family to support them. Reviewing the care of Child V was important for assessing the risks for Baby F. This review has identified similar concerns from recent SCRs examining practice over a similar timeframe.

7.5 Most notably, those include:

- poor quality and inconsistent record keeping within children's social care;
- the lack of an appropriate chronology for families involved with children's social care which identifies accurate information, professional concerns and a clear analysis of action to be taken or outcomes;
- an absence of the 'voice of the child', either in practice or in record keeping;
- a tendency for 'professional preciousness' which sometimes results in the non-statutory sector being excluded or marginalised from ongoing practice with a client/family;
- a lack of professional curiosity about new male partners, their past history as a father and the potential impact this may have on an existing family unit; and
- timely and accurate information sharing by children's social care with other agencies.

7.6 The Coventry LSCB should:

- seek assurance that the recommendation for each GP practice to hold multiagency safeguarding meetings involving midwifery and health visiting teams is implemented so that timely, accurate information regarding vulnerable families is appropriately shared. Where relevant, these meetings should also involve school nursing teams;
- request that children's social care refresh its guidance on record keeping to ensure the accuracy and quality of chronologies maintained in case notes;
- reaffirm the importance of the voice of the child in the work of all services, and in particular, within social care practice;
- ensure that agencies requesting information from children's social care are clear about why the information is sought, and for what purpose; and
- seek assurance that there is a robust operational system in place to ensure that primary visits not performed in the 14 day timescale (where defined exceptions do not apply) are appropriately reviewed, responded to by the health visitor and appropriate actions taken.

This page is intentionally left blank

Report		Coventry Safeguarding Children Board		
То:	Scrutiny Board 2			
Date:	6 th September 2018			
From:	Rebekah Eaves, Safeguarding B	oards Manager		
Subject:	Recommendations and Implement	ntation Assurance		

Г

1. Purpose of the report This report provides assurance on the implementation of recommendations made in relation to Baby F.

Recommendation	Implementation Assurance
Child F Recommendation 1: Seek assurance that the recommendation for each GP practice to hold multi-agency safeguarding meetings involving midwifery and health visiting teams is implemented so that timely, accurate information regarding vulnerable families is appropriately shared. Where relevant, these meetings should also involve school nursing teams.	GP Surgeries across the city are now routinely holding multi-disciplinary team meeting. All health visitors and midwives are expected to attend. In addition, the GP surgeries now have a Named Safeguarding Professional who leads on safeguarding issues and is able to ensure that information is shared in a timely and accurate way.
Child F Recommendation 2: Request that children's social care refresh its guidance on record keeping to ensure the accuracy and quality of chronologies maintained in case notes.	There are several streams of work within the Improvement Plan to improve the quality and accuracy of record keeping and the use of chronologies. Practice guidance about developing good practice chronologies is available for early help and social care practitioners. Workshops and formal training is available. Each team manager has developed an action plan to improve the quality and timeliness of chronologies being undertaken. The LSCB has developed a set of Key Lines of Enquiry (KLOE) for all multi-agency case file audit work. This includes specific KLOEs relating to record keeping and chronologies. Recent audit work on neglect shows continued improvement in the quality and accuracy of record keeping.
Child F Recommendation 3: Reaffirm the importance of the voice of the child in the work of all services, and in particular, within social care practice.	Within Children's Services case file audits now routinely monitor how the voice of the child influences practice and decision making. Auditors have attended workshops to learn how to conduct child focussed, evidence and impact based and outcome focussed audits. These audits are then moderated and feedback provided alongside communication of any remedial action required. Messages emerging from audits are disseminated to staff

Recommendation	Implementation Assurance
	via a range of mechanisms including, Improvement Forum, learning sets, formal & informal training, and supervision.
	In order to ensure continuous improvement in this area the LSCB have developed a set of Key Lines of Enquiry (KLOE) for all multi-agency case file audit work. This includes specific KLOEs relating to the voice of the child. Learning from LSCB audit work is shared with frontline practitioners through learning events and briefing sessions.
Child F Recommendation 4: Ensure that agencies requesting information from children's social care are clear about why the information is sought, and for what purpose.	In December 2016 Children's Services introduced the ability to seek telephone advice from the MASH without the need to make a referral. This enabled agencies to request information in a clear and purposeful way.
	Continued improvements have been made in this area with a single number to access the MASH, including a dedicated option to seek advice from a Social Worker. This is encapsulated and promoted within the new LSCB Right Help Right Time Guidance the impact of which will be evaluated through quality assurance audits in Autumn 2018.
Child F Recommendation 5: Seek assurance that there is a robust operational system in place to ensure that primary visits not performed in the 14 day timescale (where defined exceptions do not apply) are appropriately reviewed, responded to by the health visitor and appropriate actions taken.	CWPT regularly audit this area and report a 95% compliance in this area. Single agency audit results are shared through the LSCB Effectiveness & Quality Subgroup so that any early warning signs of system weakness can be identified.

Report author(s)

Name and job title: Rebekah Eaves, Safeguarding Boards Manager E-mail contact: rebekah.eaves@coventry.gov.uk

Last updated 29/8/18

Please see page 2 onwards for background to items

21 st June 2018
The Role of the Corporate Parent
Fostering
Adoption Central England
19 th July 2018
Supported Internships
The Virtual School for Looked After Children
Improvement Board 4 th July Update Report
6 th September 2018
Primary Progress (Unvalidated data)
SCR – Baby F
4 th October 2018
Partnership Working for Children's Services
One Strategic Plan updates
1 st November 2018
Secondary Progress (Unvalidated data)
Improvement Board 3 rd October Update Report
29 th November 2018
10 th January 2019
Review of the Education Service redesign
Alternative Provision and Exclusions
28 th February 2019
School Performance Information – validated data
4 th April 2019
Coventry Parenting Strategy
Date to be determined
Coventry Youth Partnership
Home to School Transport
Review of Libraries
Published SCR's
School based police panels
Secure Provision
Adoption Central England – June 2019

Date	Title	Detail	Cabinet Member/ Lead Officer
21 st June	The Role of the Corporate	Overall briefing and introduction to the role of being a corporate	Paul Smith
2018	Parent	parent – including some facts and figures about Coventry	Cllr Seaman
Fo	Fostering	Covering where we are and what we're doing - recruitment -	Paul Smith
		specialist fostering - special guardianships, progress on	Cllr Seaman
		recommendations. To be linked in with the previous T&F on Fostering.	
	Adoption Central England	Covering progress since the transfer and establishment of the	Paul Smith
		new organisation, along with some facts and figures on the current position with adoption	Cllr Seaman
19 th July	Supported Internships	The Cabinet Member referred this item to the Board to look at in	Cllr Maton
2018		more detail and consider how the programme can be supported further	Jeanette Essex
	The Virtual School for	To look at the virtual school for looked after children	Cllr Seaman
	Looked After Children		Paul Smith
			Sarah Mills
	Improvement Board 4 th	A regular progress report from the Improvement Board	John Gregg
	July Update Report		Sonia Watson
eth			Cllr Seaman
6 th	Primary Progress	Members requested a report in September of the unvalidated data	Kirston Nelson
September 2018	(Unvalidated data)	when available	Cllr Maton
	SCR – Baby F	For Members to consider progress on the recommendations	Neil MacDonald
		arising from the SCR of Baby F	Rebekah Eaves
			Cllr Seaman
4 th October	Partnership Working for	Members requested information about working with partners to	John Gregg
2018	Children's Services	achieve the outcomes for the Children's Services improvement plan.	Cllr Seaman
	One Strategic Plan	Progress on the information provided including the provision and	Kirston Nelson
	updates	demand for special school places across the city	Cllr Maton

Date	Title	Detail	Cabinet Member/ Lead Officer
1 st	Secondary Progress	Information on Secondary school pupils progress using the	Kirston Nelson
November 2018	(Unvalidated data)	unvalidated data when available	Cllr Maton
	Improvement Board 3 rd October Update Report	A regular progress report from the Improvement Board	John Gregg Sonia Watson Cllr Seaman
29 th			
November 2018			
10 th January	Review of the Education	Following a meeting where the proposals for a new structure for	Kirston Nelson
2019	Service redesign	the Educations service were considered, Members requested a progress report following implementation. To include an invite to the Regional Schools Commissioner	Cllr Maton
	Alternative Provision and Exclusions	A follow up report on the impact of the new managed transfer system 6 months on	Sara Mills Kirston Nelson
28 th	School Performance	A report on school performance data using validated data,	Sara Mills
February 2019	Information – validated data	including LAC and vulnerable groups	Kirston Nelson
4 th April 2019	Coventry Parenting Strategy	A 12 month progress report, to include rag ratings against actions	Sue Frossell
Date to be	Coventry Youth	To discuss the new Coventry Youth Partnership, young people	Cllr Seaman
determined	Partnership	involved in the panel to be invited. To include how targeted youth provision provided by the Council will link in with the partnership.	Michelle McGinty
	Home to School Transport	A follow up report covering on applications, decisions and appeals and amendments to the process.	Jeanette Essex Kirston Nelson Cllr Maton

3

SB2 Work Programme 2018/19

Page 52

Date	Title	Detail	Cabinet Member/ Lead Officer
	Review of Libraries	To include information about how libraries can become hubs for community wellbeing, as well as progress on the changes implemented last year.	Peter Barnett Kirston Nelson Cllr Maton
	Published SCR's	For Members of the Board to consider how the recommendations from the SCRs have been implemented	John Gregg David Peplow Cllr Seaman
	School based police panels	A report on how the police are supporting improving behaviour in schools and tackling anti-social behaviour in partnership	Kirston Nelson Cllr Maton
	Secure Provision	To look in more detail at the provision of secure placements and custody for young people across the region	John Gregg
	Adoption Central England – June 2019	As requested at their meeting on 21 st June to provide a further progress report, along with some facts and figures on the current position with adoption	Paul Smith Cllr Seaman